No. 46596-5-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

Baron Dukes,

Appellant.

Clark County Superior Court Cause No. 14-1-00870-8

The Honorable Judge Gregory Gonzales

Appellant's Opening Brief

Jodi R. Backlund
Manek R. Mistry
Attorneys for Appellant

BACKLUND & MISTRY
P.O. Box 6490
Olympia, WA 98507
(360) 339-4870
backlundmistry@gmail.com

ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Prosecutorial misconduct deprived Mr. Dukes of his Fourteenth Amendment due process right to a fair trial.
2. The prosecutor committed misconduct by asking the jury to penalize Mr. Dukes for asserting his constitutional rights.
3. The prosecutor's argument infringed Mr. Dukes' First Amendment right to free speech.
4. The prosecutor's argument infringed Mr. Dukes' Fourth Amendment right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures.
5. The prosecutor's argument violated Mr. Dukes' right to privacy under Wash. Const. art. I, § 7.
6. The prosecutor's argument violated Mr. Dukes' privilege against self-incrimination.

ISSUE 1: By telling jurors to distrust Mr. Dukes because he asked "Am I being detained?", did the prosecutor commit reversible misconduct?

ISSUE 2: Did the prosecutor commit reversible misconduct by asking jurors "If [Mr. Dukes] did nothing wrong, why not just let the officer confirm that?"

ISSUE 3: Did the prosecutor commit reversible misconduct by asking jurors "If [Mr. Dukes] felt he did nothing wrong, why didn't he stay there?"

ISSUE 4: Did the cumulative effect of the prosecutor's misconduct violate Mr. Dukes' due process right to a fair trial?

7. Mr. Dukes's conviction for resisting arrest violated his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.
8. The state introduced insufficient evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Dukes resisted a lawful arrest.

ISSUE 5: Was the arrest Mr. Dukes allegedly resisted unlawful because Officer Givens lacked a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity when he told Mr. Dukes not to leave?

9. The trial court erred by giving Instruction No. 3.
10. The trial court's reasonable doubt instruction violated Mr. Dukes' Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.
11. The trial court's reasonable doubt instruction violated Mr. Dukes' Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to a jury trial.
12. The trial court's reasonable doubt instruction violated Mr. Dukes' right to a jury trial under Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 21 and 22.
13. The trial court's reasonable doubt instruction unconstitutionally shifted the burden of proof and undermined the presumption of innocence.

ISSUE 6: By defining a "reasonable doubt" as a doubt "for which a reason exists," did the trial court undermine the presumption of innocence, impermissibly shift the burden of proof, and violate Mr. Dukes' constitutional right to a jury trial?

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

Baron Dukes and his girlfriend Ona Minjarez were homeless in the spring of 2014. RP 69, 254. Because of the inherent challenges of being homeless, they lost contact for a couple weeks in April, and reunited on April 28, 2014. RP 255-256.

They talked and walked down a street in Vancouver, carrying the majority of their possessions. RP 63-64, 69, 107. Mr. Dukes walked his bike as they talked. RP 73, 107, 261-263.

They were animated. Minjarez said that they enjoy vehement arguments on topics like religion. RP 65-67, 70, 258, 302. They set down their property and stood nearby, continuing their discussion. RP 263. A man working nearby perceived them as having a very serious dispute. He later testified that he did not see any physical contact between the couple, and that he watched them but did not see fit to call 911. RP 93-96, 106.

Detective Robert Givens saw the couple and stopped to talk to them. RP 64, 73, 149. He asked if everything was ok, and both Mr. Dukes and Minjarez both told him that they were fine. RP 78, 151, 167, 259.

Givens spoke separately with Minjarez and asked if they were arguing. RP 65, 73. Minjarez said they were not arguing. RP 65. Givens

responded that as a married man, he knew what an argument looked like. RP 66.

He told Mr. Dukes to wait while he talked with Minjarez. RP 64-67, 78, 151. Mr. Dukes asked if he was under arrest, and Givens responded that he was not but that he was not free to leave. RP 79, 151, 273-274. Mr. Dukes asked if he was being detained, and Givens again told him to stay there and wait. RP 152, 273-274.

Givens was in uniform and held his hands on his “gear,” possibly on his holstered gun. RP 196-198. Mr. Dukes is African-American, and Detective Givens is white. CP 2; See also Ex. 6, 9.

Mr. Dukes got onto his bike. RP 152, 276. He later explained that he meant to go wait by his and Minjarez’s property. RP 276-278, 288, 301. But Givens, apparently believing that Mr. Dukes meant to leave the area, grabbed him from behind and pulled him off the bike and to the ground. RP 79, 101, 151-152, 278. Givens told Mr. Dukes that now he was detained, and tried to cuff him. RP 137-139, 154.

Another officer arrived and joined the struggle, and then another officer came and did the same. RP 104, 110-111, 119-120, 156-157.

By the time Mr. Dukes was cuffed, at least seven officers had arrived to assist. RP 85, 311-312. Mr. Dukes had injuries from being pressed onto the curb, and Givens had scrapes on his knee and elbow. RP

123-125, 142-144, 162, 281-287. Mr. Dukes' scars remained visible three months later. RP 285-286.

The state charged Mr. Dukes with assault three, obstructing, resisting arrest, and assault four. CP 1.

At trial, Givens said that he did not see Mr. Dukes touch or threaten Minjarez at all. RP 170. The man who'd been working nearby testified that at one point he saw Mr. Dukes touch Minjarez's shoulder to turn her to face him. RP 97-98, 112. Givens was not aware of the worker's claim (that he'd seen some physical contact between the couple) until later at the police station. RP 208-210.

Minjarez testified that she and Mr. Dukes were having a friendly disagreement and that she was not afraid of him. RP 82-83. She said that there was no time when Mr. Dukes grabbed her shoulder to spin her to face him when she tried to walk away. RP 83, 251. She testified that Mr. Dukes did not fight back when the officer took him to the ground. RP 80. She said that she heard no verbal threats from Mr. Dukes. RP 80. She also told the jury that Mr. Dukes was yelling that he had nothing in his hands and that he wanted a witness. RP 81.

The court's reasonable doubt instruction included the following language: "A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists..." CP 21.

During the state's closing, the prosecutor argued:

And is that consistent? This, "Oh, I'm cooperative, and I just want to hang out and -- and -- and help with this investigation," is that consistent with him asking several times, "Am I being detained? Am I being detained?" Well, why ask that if you're just going to hang out there with your stuff? No, that's not consistent, Ladies and Gentlemen. What happened is he did not like the answer that Detective Givens was giving him, and he was out of there.
RP 380.

In rebuttal, the state came back to the same theme:

If he did nothing wrong, why not just let the officer confirm that?
RP 414.

And if Mr. Dukes felt he did nothing wrong, why didn't he stay there?
RP 416.

The jury found Mr. Dukes Not Guilty of assaulting Ms. Minjarez and Not Guilty of obstructing a law enforcement officer.¹ CP 42, 44. The jury convicted Mr. Dukes of assault three and resisting arrest. CP 41, 43.

After sentencing, Mr. Dukes timely appealed. CP 66.

¹ Mr. Dukes had moved to dismiss the resisting arrest charge on double jeopardy grounds, arguing it constituted the same conduct as either the obstructing or the felony assault charges. RP 349-352. The court denied the motion. RP 353-354.

ARGUMENT

I. THE PROSECUTOR TOLD JURORS TO DRAW NEGATIVE INFERENCES FROM MR. DUKES' EXERCISE OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS.

- A. Mr. Dukes did nothing more than exercise his constitutional rights during his initial encounter with Officer Givens.

When first confronted by Officer Givens, Mr. Dukes did not more than ask “Am I being detained?” RP 151. He chose not to speak, and instead walked away from the encounter. Givens did not have reasonable suspicion that Mr. Dukes had engaged in criminal activity, but ordered him to remain, and then forcibly pulled him from his bicycle. RP 151-158.

In closing, the prosecutor told jurors to draw negative inferences from Mr. Dukes' exercise of his constitutional rights. RP 380. This misconduct can be raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a)(3); *State v. Gauthier*, 174 Wn. App. 257, 267, 298 P.3d 126 (2013); *State v. Terry*, 181 Wn. App. 880, 890-894, 328 P.3d 932 (2014).

1. Mr. Dukes exercised his right to free speech.

The First Amendment's free speech protection extends to questions about police action.²U.S. Const. Amend. I; *City of Houston, Tex. v. Hill*,

² Wash. Const. art. I, § 5 provides even broader protection. *JJR Inc. v. City of Seattle*, 126 Wn.2d 1, 8 n. 6, 891 P.2d 720 (1995).

482 U.S. 451, 462, 107 S.Ct. 2502, 96 L.Ed.2d 398 (1987). Mr. Dukes' question—"Am I being detained?"—falls within this core class of protected speech. *Norwell v. City of Cincinnati, Ohio*, 414 U.S. 14, 94 S.Ct. 187, 38 L.Ed.2d 170 (1973).

2. Mr. Dukes invoked the protections of the Fourth Amendment and art. I, § 7.

A person may "invoke with impunity" the protection of the Fourth Amendment and art. I, § 7. *Gauthier*, 174 Wn. App. at 267. These provisions protect the right to ignore an officer's questions and walk away from any social encounter: in such circumstances, a person "need not answer any question put to him; indeed, he may decline to listen to the questions at all and may go on his way." *Florida v. Royer*, 460 U.S. 491, 497-98, 103 S.Ct. 1319, 75 L.Ed.2d 229 (1983); *see also State v. Gatewood*, 163 Wn.2d 534, 541, 182 P.3d 426 (2008).

In this case, Mr. Dukes sought to ascertain whether or not he was free to leave. RP 151. His question—"Am I being detained?" was an effort to determine his rights under the Fourth Amendment and art. I, § 7. It was a prerequisite to asserting those rights, and thus a necessary part of invoking the protections of those provisions.

3. Mr. Dukes exercised his Fifth Amendment right to remain silent and his constitutional right to walk away from a police encounter unsupported by reasonable suspicion.

Every person has the right to remain silent and has no obligation to provide information to police. U.S. Const. Amends. V, XIV; *Missouri v. Seibert*, 542 U.S. 600, 607, 124 S.Ct. 2601, 159 L.Ed.2d 643 (2004).³ Here, Mr. Dukes exercised his Fifth Amendment right to remain silent by refusing to speak with Officer Givens.

In addition, an officer may not detain a person for investigation absent a “reasonable suspicion” of criminal activity. U.S. Const. Amend. IV, XIV; art. I, § 7; *Brown v. Texas*, 443 U.S. 47, 51, 99 S.Ct. 2637, 61 L.Ed.2d 357 (1979). Officer Givens had no basis to detain Mr. Dukes: he witnessed nothing more than finger-pointing during an argument. RP 185-187.

In the absence of a reasonable suspicion, Officer Givens had no power to do more than initiate a social contact. *See Gatewood*, 163 Wn.2d at 541. Mr. Dukes was well within his state and federal constitutional rights when he ignored Officer Givens and walked away from this social contact. *Id.*; *Royer*, 460 U.S. at 497-98.

³See also, e.g., *Kentucky v. King*, --- U.S. ---, ___, 131 S.Ct. 1849, 1862, 179 L.Ed.2d 865 (2011).

- B. The prosecutor impermissibly asked jurors to draw adverse inferences from Mr. Dukes' exercise of his constitutional rights.

The government may not draw adverse inferences from the exercise of a constitutional right. *State v. Rupe*, 101 Wn.2d 664, 705, 683 P.2d 571 (1984). Here, the prosecutor told jurors to draw adverse inferences from Mr. Dukes' exercise of his rights.⁴RP 380, 414, 416.

The prosecutor implied that Mr. Dukes' question – “Am I being detained?” – showed that he was uncooperative. RP 380. The prosecutor also argued that Mr. Dukes' question, his refusal to help Givens “confirm” what had happened, and his decision to “go on his way”⁵ refuted any claim of innocence:

If he did nothing wrong, why not just let the officer confirm that?...
And if Mr. Dukes felt he did nothing wrong, why didn't he stay there?
RP 414, 416.

The prosecutor's arguments suggested that an innocent person wouldn't ask “Am I being detained?”, wouldn't walk away from a social contact, and would help “confirm” his innocence. RP 380, 414, 416. But the constitution protects the right of citizens to ask questions, to walk away

⁴ Although Mr. Dukes did not object in the trial court, the misconduct may be reviewed because it is flagrant and ill-intentioned, and because it is a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. RAP 2.5(a)(3); *Gauthier*, 174 Wn. App. at 267; *Terry*, 181 Wn. App. at 890-894; *State v. Pierce*, 169 Wn. App. 533, 552, 280 P.3d 1158 (2012).

⁵ *Royer*, 460 U.S. at 491, 497-98.

when approached by police who lack reasonable suspicion of criminal activity, and to remain silent in the face of police questioning.

The prosecutor committed misconduct by arguing otherwise.

Rupe, 101 Wn.2d at 705.

C. The prosecutor’s misconduct prejudiced Mr. Dukes and requires reversal of his two convictions.

To determine whether a prosecutor’s misconduct warrants reversal, the court looks at its prejudicial nature and cumulative effect.⁶*State v. Boehning*, 127 Wn. App. 511, 518, 111 P.3d 899 (2005). In this case, the prosecutor committed prejudicial misconduct by asking jurors to penalize Mr. Dukes for asserting his constitutional rights. RP 380, 414, 416.

A prosecutor’s improper statements prejudice the accused if they create a substantial likelihood that the verdict was affected. *In re Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d 696, 703-704, 286 P.3d 673 (2012); U.S. Const. Amends. VI, XIV, art. I, § 22. The inquiry must look to the misconduct and its impact, not the evidence that was properly admitted. *Id.* at 711.

Here, the record shows a substantial likelihood that the misconduct affected the jury’s verdict. The two charges of which Mr. Dukes was convicted—resisting arrest and assaulting an officer—related to his degree

⁶The cumulative effect of prosecutorial misconduct can be “so flagrant that no instruction or series of instructions can erase their combined prejudicial effect.” *State v. Walker*, 164 Wn. App. 724, 737, 265 P.3d 191 (2011).

of cooperation with Officer Givens. The prosecutor's misconduct directly impacted this issue.

By arguing that Mr. Dukes was uncooperative (and that he didn't behave like an innocent person), the prosecutor improperly influenced the jury. Prosecutorial misconduct during argument can be particularly prejudicial. *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 706.

By seeking to penalize Mr. Dukes for asserting his constitutional rights, the prosecutor committed misconduct that was flagrant and ill-intentioned. *Pierce*, 169 Wn. App. at 552. Whether considered separately or in the aggregate, the prosecutor's misconduct deprived Mr. Dukes of a fair trial. *Walker*, 164 Wn. App. at 737; *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 703-04. The convictions must be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial. *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 703-04.

II. THE STATE PRESENTED INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO CONVICT MR. DUKES OF RESISTING ARREST.

A. Standard of Review.

Constitutional violations are reviewed *de novo*. *State v. Zillyette*, 178 Wn.2d 153, 158, 307 P.3d 712 (2013). A conviction must be reversed for insufficient evidence if, taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the state, no rational trier of fact could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Vasquez*, 178 Wn.2d 1, 6, 309 P.3d 318 (2013).

B. The evidence was insufficient because Mr. Dukes was not lawfully arrested.

Due process requires the state to prove every element of an offense beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970). The remedy for a conviction based on insufficient evidence is reversal and dismissal with prejudice.⁷ *Smalis v. Pennsylvania*, 476 U.S. 140, 144, 106 S.Ct. 1745, 90 L.Ed.2d 116 (1986).

A conviction for resisting arrest requires proof of a lawful arrest.⁸ RCW 9A.76.040. In this case, Officer Givens lacked a basis to lawfully arrest Mr. Dukes.

An arrest must be based on probable cause.⁹ At the time of the arrest, Officer Givens did not have probable cause to arrest Mr. Dukes for obstructing.

⁷ To be sufficient, evidence must be more than substantial. *Vasquez*, 178 Wn.2d at 6. On review, inferences drawn in favor of the prosecution may not rest on evidence that is “patently equivocal.” *Id.*, at 8. To establish even a *prima facie* case, the prosecution must present evidence that is consistent with guilt and inconsistent with a hypothesis of innocence. *State v. Brockob*, 159 Wn.2d 311, 328-29, 150 P.3d 59 (2006) (addressing the *corpus delicti* rule).

⁸ An illegal arrest is equivalent to an assault. *State v. Hornaday*, 105 Wn.2d 120, 131, 713 P.2d 71 (1986). A person being unlawfully arrested may use reasonable force to resist the arrest. *State v. McCrorey*, 70 Wn. App. 103, 115, 851 P.2d 1234 (1993) *abrogated on other grounds by State v. Head*, 136 Wn.2d 619, 964 P.2d 1187 (1998).

⁹ Probable cause exists when an officer has reasonably trustworthy information of facts and circumstances “sufficient in themselves to warrant a man of reasonable caution in the belief that’ an offense has been or is being committed”. *Brinegar v. United States*, 338 U.S. 160, 175-76, 69 S.Ct. 1302, 93 L.Ed. 1879 (1949).

Obstructing occurs when a person “willfully hinders, delays, or obstructs any law enforcement officer in the discharge of his or her official powers or duties.” RCW 9A.76.020. By definition, an unlawful detention is “not part of lawful police duties.” *State v. Barnes*, 96 Wn. App. 217, 225, 978 P.2d 1131 (1999).

Givens’ directive not to leave was not “part of lawful police duties”¹⁰ because Givens lacked a “reasonable suspicion” that Mr. Dukes was engaged in criminal activity. *Brown*, 443 U.S. at 51. Officer Givens had no basis to detain Mr. Dukes—his only suspicion was that Mr. Dukes was involved in an argument. RP 185-186. Participating in an argument is not a crime. *See* RCW, *generally*; U.S. Const. Amends. I, XIV.

Because the evidence was insufficient to prove that Mr. Dukes resisted a lawful arrest, his conviction must be reversed. *Vasquez*, 178 Wn.2d at 6. The charge must be dismissed with prejudice. *Id.*

III. THE TRIAL COURT’S INSTRUCTIONS IMPROPERLY DIVERTED THE JURY’S ATTENTION AWAY FROM THE REASONABLENESS OF ANY DOUBT, AND ERRONEOUSLY FOCUSED IT ON WHETHER JURORS COULD PROVIDE A REASON FOR ANY DOUBTS.

A. Jurors need not articulate a reason for doubt in order to acquit.

Due process requires the state to prove each element of a charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; Wash.

¹⁰*Barnes*, 96 Wn. App. at 225.

Const. art. I, § 3; *Sullivan v. Louisiana*, 508 U.S. 275, 113 S.Ct. 2078, 2082, 124 L.Ed.2d 182 (1993); *State v. Hundley*, 126 Wn.2d 418, 421, 895 P.2d 403 (1995). Jury instructions must clearly communicate this burden to the jury. *State v. Bennett*, 161 Wn.2d 303, 307, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007) (citing *Victor v. Nebraska*, 511 U.S. 1, 5-6, 114 S.Ct. 1239, 127 L.Ed.2d 583 (1994)).

Instructions that relieve the state of its burden violate due process and the Sixth Amendment right to trial by jury. U.S. Const. Amends. VI; XIV; *Sullivan*, 508 U.S. at 278-81; *Bennett*, 161 Wn.2d at 307. An instruction that misdirects the jury as to its duty “vitiates *all* the jury’s findings.” *Sullivan*, 508 U.S. at 279-281.

Jurors need not articulate a reason for their doubt before they can vote to acquit. *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 759-60, 278 P.3d 653 (2012) (addressing prosecutorial misconduct). Language suggesting jurors must be able to articulate a reason for their doubt is “inappropriate” because it “subtly shifts the burden to the defense.” *Emery*, 174 Wn.2d at 759-60.¹¹

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