NO. 46596-5-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

BARON ADAM DUKES, Appellant

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO.14-1-00870-8

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK Prosecuting Attorney Clark County, Washington

AARON T. BARTLETT, WSBA #39710 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney 1013 Franklin Street PO Box 5000 Vancouver WA 98666-5000 Telephone (360) 397-2261

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

If he did nothing wrong, why not just let the officer confirm that? Mr. Dukes is not the one that gets to make these determinations whether or not it was a lawful investigation or a lawful arrest. Mr. Gonzales tells us what happened prior to that. So it just happens to be the officer's experience was correct in this case. Mr. Dukes -- you'll see nowhere in there does it say the defendant gets to decide if this was an unlawful arrest. No. And, again, how many little inconsistencies does it take before his credibility is shot? They all go to that credibility. RP 416.

Mr. Dukes was acquitted of the Obstructing a Law Enforcement Officer charge. The above arguments by the State, about which Mr. Dukes now complains, referenced his behavior and statements related to that charge and were not related to the offenses for which he was convicted except to the extent that his credibility was impacted as the result of contrasts between his testimony and Detective Givens's. Simply put, Mr. Dukes's queries about his detention status and his attempt to leave the scene were barely, if at all, probative of whether he resisted arrest or assaulted Detective Givens during the arrest. Consequently, even if the State's comments were improper, a curative instruction would have obviated any prejudice; and, regardless, those comments could not have resulted in a prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury verdict. Mr. Dukes waived the error by not objecting at trial.

That said, the State's arguments were not misconduct. In the context of the entire argument and the evidence elicited at trial, the State was arguing that Mr. Dukes's behavior was inconsistent with his statements and trial testimony, and that his continuous questioning of the officer, and subsequent attempt to flee, obstructed the officer's

investigation. Because the credibility of the witnesses, and Mr. Dukes in particular, was of utmost importance in this case, the State's arguments calling Mr. Dukes's credibility into question were necessary and not misconduct. RP 379-381.

Moreover, the State's comments were also permissible and relevant to the Obstructing charge because a person's (1) flight is probative of guilt and (2) flight from a lawful detention or *Terry Stop* when that person has been told that they are not free to leave, by law, constitutes the crime of obstruction. *State v. Wilson*, 26 Wn.2d 468, 482, 174 P.2d 553 (1946) (holding evidence of flight is admissible because "flight is an instinctive or impulsive reaction to a consciousness of guilt or is a deliberate attempt to avoid arrest and prosecution."); *State v. Little*, 116 Wn.2d 488, 496, 806 P.2d 749 (1991) (holding that when an officer has a reasonable suspicion to conduct a *Terry* stop of a person "flight from the police constituted obstruction of a police officer in the exercise of his official duties."). Therefore, in the context in which they were made the State's arguments were not improper.

II. <u>THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF</u> <u>RESISTING ARREST BECAUSE MR. DUKES WAS</u> <u>LAWFULLY ARRESTED.</u>

Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction if, when viewed in a light most favorable to the prosecution, it permits any rational trier of fact

to find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). "A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom." *Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d at 201.

Circumstantial and direct evidence are equally reliable. *State v. Delmarter*, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980). The reviewing court defers to the trier of fact on issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence. *State v. Camarillo*, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990); *State v. W*alton, 64 Wn.App. 410, 415-16, 824 P.2d 533 (1992). Furthermore, "specifics regarding date, time, place, and circumstance are factors regarding credibility. . . ." *State v. Hayes*, 81 Wn.App. 425, 437, 914 P.2d 788 (1996) *review denied* 130 Wn.2d 1013 (1996). In order to determine whether the necessary quantum of proof exists, the reviewing court "need not be convinced of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt but only that substantial evidence supports the State's case." *State v. Gallagher*, 112 Wn.App. 601, 613, 51 P.3d 100 (2002) (citations omitted).

Here, Mr. Dukes challenges the sufficiency of the evidence underlying his resisting arrest conviction, arguing that the State failed to prove "a lawful arrest" of Mr. Dukes because Detective Givens "did not

have probable cause to arrest Mr. Dukes for obstructing." Br. of App. at 11. This argument is without merit.

Officers engage in their official duties in many ways that result in the brief, lawful detentions of citizens such as when they make *Terry* stops and when they exercise their community caretaking functions. Moreover, and critically, when an officer has grounds to seize someone and that person refuses to halt or flees, than he or she is guilty of Obstructing a Law Enforcement Officer. RCW 9A.76.020; *State v. Mendez*, 137 Wn.2d 208, 223, 970 P.2d 722 (1999) (overruled on other grounds by *Brendlin v. California*, 551 U.S. 249, 127 S.Ct. 2400 (2007)); *Little*, 116 Wn.2d at 496-98 (holding "that the investigating officers had reasonable suspicion to conduct a *Terry* stop of the appellants. Appellants' flight from the police constituted obstruction of a police officer in the exercise of his official duties.")

In determining whether the grounds for which an officer decided to stop someone were well-founded, courts must look at "the totality of circumstances known to the officer at the inception of the stop." *State v. Lee*, 147 Wn.App. 912, 917, 199 P.3d 445 (2008) (quotation omitted) ("the whole picture [] must be taken into account when evaluating whether there is reasonable suspicion."). Thus, the focus is on "what the officer

knew at the time of the stop." *State v. Z.U.E.*, 178 Wn.App. 769, 780, 315 P.3d 1158 (2014) (citing *Lee*, 147 Wn.App. at 917).

Additionally, the Fourth Amendment "does not proscribe inaccurate searches only unreasonable ones." *State v. Seagull*, 95 Wn.2d 898, 908, 632 P.2d 44 (1981); *State v. Anderson*, 51 Wn.App. 775, 780, 755 P.2d 191 (1988) (holding that "police officers must be permitted to act before their reasonable belief is verified") (citation omitted). Consequently, that an officer's reasonable suspicion may turn out to be mistaken does invalidate the initial search or seizure. *See State v. Snapp*, 174 Wn.2d 177, 275 P.3d 289 (2012); *State v. Creed*, 179 Wn.App. 534, 319 P.3d 80 (2014) ("An officer's suspicion, even if mistaken, must still be reasonable in light of the objective reality with which he or she is presented."); *Seagull*, 95 Wn.2d at 907-908.

"Officers may briefly, and without warrant, stop and detain a person they reasonably suspect is, or is about to be, engaged in criminal conduct." *Id.* at 895. "[R]easonableness is measured not by exactitudes, but by probabilities." *State v. Samsel*, 39 Wn.App. 564, 571, 694 P.2d 670 (1985). Moreover, while an "inchoate hunch' is not sufficient to justify a stop, experienced officers are not required to ignore arguably innocuous circumstances that arouse their suspicions." *State v. Santacruz*, 132 Wn.App. 615, 619–20, 133 P.3d 484 (2006). Courts reviewing the

reasonableness of a *Terry* stop "must evaluate the totality of circumstances presented to the investigating officer" while keeping in mind the "officer's training and experience." *State v. Glover*, 116 Wn.2d 509, 514, 806 P.2d 760 (1991); *State v. Mercer*, 45 Wn.App. 769, 774, 727 P.2d 676 (1986).

The development of reasonable, articulable suspicion entitles the officer to "maintain the status quo momentarily while obtaining more information." *State v. Williams*, 102 Wn.2d 733, 737, 689 P.2d 1065 (1984) (quotation omitted). In addition, the "detaining officer may ask a moderate number of questions . . . to confirm or dispel the officer's suspicions without rendering the suspect 'in custody.'" *State v. Heritage*, 152 Wn.2d 210, 218, 95 P.3d 345 (2004). "If the results of the initial stop dispel an officer's suspicions, then the officer must end the investigative stop." *State v. Acrey*, 148 Wn.2d 738, 747, 64 P.3d 594 (2003).

But "[t]he scope of an investigatory stop . . . may be enlarged or prolonged as required by the circumstances if the stop confirms or arouses further suspicions." *State v. Guzman-Cuellar*, 47 Wn.App. 326, 332, 734 P.2d 966 (1987). This is unsurprising as The Supreme Court has acknowledged that "[i]f the purpose underlying a *Terry* stop investigating possible criminal activity—is to be served, the police must under certain circumstances be able to detain the individual for longer than the brief time period involved in *Terry*." *Michigan v. Summers*, 452 U.S. 692, 700, and n. 12, 101 S.Ct. 2587, 69 L.Ed.2d 340 (1981).

Furthermore, the state of the law makes sense as "[c]itizens of this state expect police officers to do more than react to crimes that have already occurred. They also expect the police to investigate when circumstances are suspicious, to interact with citizens to keep informed about what is happening in a neighborhood, and to be available for citizens' questions, comments, and information citizens may offer." State *v. O'Neill*, 148. Wn.2d 564, 576, 62 P.3d 489 (2003). Similarly, "[m]any citizens look to the police to assist them in a variety of circumstances, including delivering emergency messages, giving directions, searching for lost children, assisting stranded motorists, and rendering first aid." Acrey, 148 Wn.2d at 748 (internal quotations omitted). Accordingly, when acting in accordance to their community caretaking function, police may detain a person as part of a "routine check on health or safety." Id. at 749-50. As our courts have noted, when "an officer believes in good faith that someone's health or safety may be endangered ... public policy does not demand that the officer delay any attempt to determine if assistance is needed and offer assistance while a warrant is obtained." State v. Moore, 129 Wn.App. 870, 880-81, 120 P.3d 635 (2005) (citations omitted) (alteration in original). On the contrary, "the officer could be considered

derelict by not acting promptly to ascertain if someone needed help." *Id.* at 881.

The standard governing whether a stop pursuant to the community caretaking function is lawful is whether the stop is reasonable after the "balancing of the competing interests involved in light of all the surrounding facts and circumstances." *Acrey*, 148 Wn.2d at 749. These competing interests are the individual's interest in freedom from police interference and the public's interest in having the police perform a community caretaking function. *Moore*, 129 Wn.App. at 880 (citations omitted). The scope of a stop of a person as part of a routine check on health or safety is not open ended, however, the seizure "must be necessary and strictly relevant to performance of the noncriminal investigation." *Id.* at 879 (citation omitted). Additionally, the "noncriminal investigation must end when reasons for initiating an encounter are fully dispelled." *Id.* (citation omitted). Finally, courts must apply the community caretaking exception cautiously, mindful of the risk of abuse. *Id.*

Here, Detective Givens was concerned about the safety of Ms. Minjarez after witnessing Mr. Dukes, with an angry look on his face and six inches from Ms. Minjarez, leaning into her and yelling while she retreated slightly. RP 149-50, 152, 164. After stopping and exiting his

vehicle to check on Ms. Minjarez, Detective Givens noticed that though the two stopped talking immediately, they did not appear calm, and that Mr. Dukes glared at him and responded to his question with a confrontational and defiant tone. RP 167-69, 172-73, 205-06, 234. Detective Givens testified he had training and experience in the arena of domestic violence and that verbal disturbances can be indicative of the fact that crimes have occurred, are occurring or will occur, and that often people will initially tell police that everything is fine and once separated from the other individual will tell the police the opposite is true. RP 150, 164, 187, 202, 205.

When viewed in the light most favorable to the State, whether Detective Givens's extremely brief seizure of Mr. Dukes is construed as a *Terry* stop or a stop pursuant to a check on health or safety under the community caretaking exception, his actions were reasonable given the totality of the circumstances. Because the stop was lawful, Mr. Dukes's immediate interrupting of Detective Givens's questioning of Ms. Minjarez and his subsequent attempt to flee despite being told he was not free to leave gave rise to probable cause for Detective Givens to arrest him for Obstructing a Law Enforcement Officer. *Little*, 116 Wn.2d at 496-98. Consequently, the State presented sufficient evidence of a lawful arrest, and therefore, of the crime of resisting arrest.

III. THE JURY WAS PROPERLY INSTRUCTED BY THE TRIAL COURT WHEN IT GAVE THE REASONABLE DOUBT INSTRUCTION BECAUSE THE REASONABLE DOUBT INSTRUCTION, WPIC 4.01, WHICH PROVIDES THAT "[A] REASONABLE DOUBT IS ONE FOR WHICH A REASON EXISTS AND MAY ARISE FROM THE EVIDENCE OR LACK OF EVIDENCE" IS A CORRECT STATEMENT OF THE LAW.

Mr. Dukes advances no argument as to why he can raise this instructional issue for the first time on appeal. Br. of App. at 12-16; RAP 2.5(a)(3). In fact, he explicitly did not object to the instruction at the trial level. RP 336.² The general rule is that an issue, theory, or argument not presented at trial will not be considered on appeal. RAP 2.5(a); *State v. Hayes*, 165 Wn.App. 507, 514, 265 P.3d 982 (2011) (citing *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 332–33, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995)). This "rule reflects a policy of encouraging the efficient use of judicial resources. The appellate courts will not sanction a party's failure to point out at trial an error which the trial court, if given the opportunity, might have been able to correct to avoid an appeal and a consequent new trial." *State v. Scott*, 110 Wn.2d 682, 685, 757 P.2d 492 (1998) (citation omitted).

The rule has additional force when applied to criminal cases in which claimed errors in jury instructions are raised for the first time on appeal because "CrR 6.15(c) *requires* that timely and well stated

² THE COURT: Number 3, 4.01, "The defendant has entered a plea of not guilty." [MR. DUKES]: No objection.

objections be made to instructions given or refused 'in order that the trial court may have the opportunity to correct any error.''' *Id.* at 685-86 (emphasis added) (quoting *Seattle v. Rainwater*, 86 Wn.2d 567, 571, 546 P.2d 450 (1976)). Accordingly, our Supreme Court has "with almost monotonous continuity, recognized this procedural requirement and adhered to the proposition that, absent obvious and manifest injustice, we will not review assignments of error based upon the giving or refusal of instructions to which no timely exceptions were taken." *State v. Louie*, 68 Wn.2d 304, 312, 413 P.2d 7 (1966) (citing cases). Thus, it is unsurprising that "[c]iting this rule or the principles it embodies" our Supreme Court "on many occasions has refused to review asserted instructional errors to which no meaningful exceptions were taken at trial." *Scott*, 110 Wn.2d at 686 (citing cases).

Because Mr. Dukes advances no argument as to why he should be able to raise this issue for the first time on appeal this court should decline to consider it.

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